#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF Extendically Filed Nov 14 2014 11:57 a.m. \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

CASE NO. 64249

Appellant.

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

## APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT AFTER JURY TRIAL AND SENTENCING

<u>Second Judicial District</u> <u>State of Nevada</u>

### THE HONORABLE CONNIE J. STEINHEIMER, PRESIDING

#### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

To obtain this conviction the State called <u>36 witnesses</u>. Appellant called one, himself. Appellant presents important witness testimonies by groups:

### A. Testimony of police and "non motorcycle-riding lay witnesses"

Bill Pritchard, the surveillance supervisor at John Ascuaga's Nugget (AAv11: 2628), testified that on September 23, 2011 the Hell's Angels (hereinafter "HA's") had their booth outside the Nugget on Victorian Ave. (Id. at 2647) The Vagos congregated primarily in the pavilion area, near the west tower of the Nugget. (Id. at 2655) Per the images captured on video, the fight between the HA's and the Vagos broke out at about 11:25 p.m.. (Id. at 2680) At the beginning of the fight Appellant was <u>not</u> participating, but rather, was backing off. (Id. at 2686)

Cesar Villagrana, a member of the HA's, was shooting his gun at 11:26 p.m. (Id. at 2742) At that point, either Jethro Pettigrew (the ultimate victim) or Villagrana pistol-whipped someone. (Id. at 2744-45) By 11:26 p.m. the HA's and the Vagos fought with one another.

Pettigrew fell from gunshots at 11:27 p.m.. (AAv12: 2757, 2791) Pettigrew

was shot in the back. (AAv11: 2651) When the fight first broke out, however, Appellant ran behind the fish tank and checked his gun at the bar. (Id. at 2673-75)

**George Messina**, the security supervisor at the Nugget working the swing shift on September 23, 2011 (AAv12: 2776), added that he was called to an altercation in the area of the Oyster Bar of the Nugget at about 10:30 p.m.. At that time there was potential for violence between the HA's and the Vagos. (Id. at 2782-83) However, when Sparks PD Sgt. Walsh responded, the tensions between the two groups had eased. (Id. at 2874) (See also: AAv13:3036-37).

Thereafter, Mr. Messina saw a group of HA's talking to a group of Vagos. He then saw Pettigrew strike one of the Vagos in the face within seconds of the confrontation. (AAv12 at 2790, 2811) Mr. Messina then saw Pettigrew and Villagrana pull out guns and started shooting randomly after people started fighting and breaking glass. (<u>Id</u>. at 2791, 2811)

**Frank Pesarin**, a site manager for Street Vibrations (AAv17: 4026), worked with an HA named Bobby Vieira as a vendor. (<u>Id</u>. at 4030) Mr. Vieira had booked his slot outside of the Nugget about eight months in advance. (<u>Id</u>. at 4032) In the 18 prior years of the Street Vibrations event, Mr. Pesarin knew that there had been a *rivalry* between the HA's and the Vagos, but *not* a *problem*. Mr. Vieira's attitude was "I'm too old for this." (<u>Id</u>. at 4036) In fact, everything between the Vagos and HA's was fine on the first two days of the event. (<u>Id</u>. at 4035) Typically, fights between motorcycle clubs involve other members joining in, but appear to be *spontaneous*. (<u>Id</u>. at 4060)

Steve Moore, a bartender employed at the Nugget (AAv17: 4241-42), was walking with a cocktail waitress to turn in his money and keys at the end of his shift, when he heard a loud noise. (Id. at 4242-43) He hit the ground with his coworker, looked up, and saw Villagrana and a Vago engaged in a fight. (Id. at 4245) The Vago ran away, while Villagrana went behind some slots, stepped out, and raised his gun. (Id. at 4247-48) Villagrana ejected the magazine in his gun and put a new one in. (Id. at 4249) Villagrana looked like someone who was looking for someone else to shoot. (AAv18: 4255) Although the witness saw the shooting of Pettigrew, his eyes were focused on Villagrana, who appeared to be the most aggressive person there. (Id. at 4253; AAv17:4249) Very few of the Vagos were actually involved in the fight. (AAv18: 4274) The witness heard two or three gunshots before he saw Villagrana shoot his gun. (AAv18: 4258)

#### B. Testimony of "Vago" witnesses

**Richard Nickerson**, a member of the San Jose Vagos since 2009 (AAv13: 3104), testified that Diego Garcia, aka "Boo Boo," and Caesar Morales are members of the San Jose Vagos. (Id. at 3104-05) Appellant, aka "Romeo,"

8

likewise is a member of the San Jose Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 3105-07) "Ta Ta" is the international president of the Vagos, and "Dragon Man" is the international sergeant at arms. (<u>Id</u>. at 3116-17)

As of September 23, 2011 there was **no rivalry** between the HA's and the Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 3107) He had experienced verbal run ins with certain HA members before he joined the San Jose Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 3108) However, the San Jose Vagos coexisted with the San Jose HA's and also with the Mongols. (<u>Id</u>. at 3109)

Mr. Nickerson was on the casino floor, while Appellant went to get a bottle of water, when the incident occurred. (Id. at 3139) Mr. Nickerson heard the bartender say, "not in my bar!" He then heard Pettigrew say, "you want [to get] shot, motherfucker?" [sic] (Id. at 3140) He then heard gunshots, and saw Cesar Villagrana shooting at everybody. (Id. at 3140-41) Mr. Nickerson immediately hid behind some slot machines. (Id. at 3141)

When Mr. Nickerson left Reno, he knew that Mr. Garcia had been shot in the leg. (Id. at 3145-46) (See also: AAv17:4102-03, 4108).

There was never a Vago meeting where Appellant agreed to kill Mr. Pettigrew. (Id. at 3161-62) Pettigrew never tried to stop the Vagos from opening a chapter in San Jose. (Id. at 3162)

9

Jimmy Evanson, the president of the "Southern California Riviera" chapter on September 23, 2011 (AAv12: 2843-44), testified that everyone associated with the Vagos, regardless of chapter, had to go to "Street Vibrations". (<u>Id</u>. at 2845) The Vagos held an international meeting on September 23, 2011 at 8 a.m.. More than 400 Vagos attended. (<u>Id</u>. at 2846)

After the meeting, Mr. Evanson went to the Oyster Bar at about 10:15 p.m.. There he saw a Vago named "Jabbers" having an issue with Jethro Pettigrew. "Jabbers" was Gary Rudnick, while Pettigrew, an extremely respected individual through the world of the HA's, was known as "the Godfather of San Jose." (<u>Id</u>. at 2847-49) Rudnick was the vice president of the *Los Angeles* chapter of the Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 2857)

At approximately 11:13 p.m., Evanson tried to calm everyone down. He spoke with Bobby Vieria, shook his hand, and both said, "we're too old for this shit." [sic] (Id. at 2855-56) The problem was that Pettigrew touched "Jabber's" back on his "cut," indicating that Jabbers should buy him a beer, and "Jabbers" took it in the wrong context. (Id. at 2857, 2863)

Rudnick, however, kept taunting Pettigrew over the perceived slight. (<u>Id</u>. at 2858, 2862) Pettigrew became perturbed, because Rudnick would not stop. (<u>Id</u>. at 2858)

Mr. Evanson became very concerned, and called "Ta Ta," (<u>Id</u>. at 3865) However, they went upstairs and talked with "Dragon", who had the decision making authority on whether to fight. (<u>Id</u>. at 2870) <u>The decision was to stop and</u> <u>relax</u>. (<u>Id</u>. at 2871)

When the fight started, Pettigrew was hit from behind after Morales hit a HA in a head with a bottle, in response to a punch being thrown. (Id. at 2882-83) Pettigrew then pulled out a gun and everyone got down when Pettigrew started firing it. (Id. at 2883-84) During the melee, the witness' club's vice president, Leo Ramirez, was shot in the stomach. (Id. at 2892)

The HA's are all individually run, with each charter its own separate entity. (Id. at 2919)

The Vagos have doctors, lawyers, and family men as members. (<u>Id</u>. at 2928) "Jabbers" is one of the bad people in the club. (<u>Id</u>. at 2929) The witness did not really know much about the Appellant. (<u>Id</u>.) Rudnick was ejected from the L.A. club because of what he did in this case. (<u>Id</u>. at 2932-33)

During the international convention of the Vagos, no one was angry with the HA's in particular. (<u>Id</u>. at 2943) There was never a meeting at the Nugget where anyone talked about killing Pettigrew. (<u>Id</u>. at 2971)

The witness was aware of at least three people - himself, Rocky Siemer, and

"Top Hat" - who told Rudnick that evening to leave Pettigrew alone. (<u>Id</u>. at 2948) Before the fight broke out, Pettigrew was not doing anything to cause a problem with the Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 2964-65)

When the melee ensued, no Vago immediately pulled out a firearm and started shooting a HA. (Id. at 2966) The Vagos went into a protective mode. (Id.) The Vagos consider themselves to be "brothers." (Id. at 2967)

**Greg Fearn**, the president of the Lake County (California) chapter of the Vagos (AAv13: 3195-96), was aware that as of the beginning of that evening, the HA's and the Vagos' did not have any issues with each other. (<u>Id</u>. at 3197)

At the beginning of the melee, Mr. Fearn saw Pettigrew throw a punch and knock Rudnick down. (<u>Id</u>. at 3206) Pettigrew then reached into his bag, pulled out a gun, and fired two to three shots in the direction of Rudnick. (<u>Id</u>. at 3206-07) Pettigrew, while cussing at "Jabbers," pistol whipped the witness. (<u>Id</u>. at 3207, 3214) Pettigrew had a look in his face similar to a "wild coyote." (<u>Id</u>. at 3237) After Pettigrew fired off his rounds, someone else kicked Pettigrew in his head. (<u>Id</u>. at 3223)

The whole incident was very spontaneous. (<u>Id</u>. at 3237) There had been <u>no</u> discussion about attacking any HA before the fight broke out. (<u>Id</u>. at 3232)

Robert Wiggins, the vice president of the Orange County chapter of the

Vagos (AAv14: 3407, 3412), is a general contractor by trade. (Id. at 3407) The Vagos wear green, and their "cut", or patch on the back of the vest, is a "loki," or Norse God.

Mr. Wiggins is friends with HA members. Everyone gets along. They have mutual respect. (Id. at 3428) However, during the fight two HA's were kicking him in his head, throat and chest. (Id. at 3417-20) That occurred while HA's were shooting guns. (Id. at 3415, 3439) Initially, Villagrana pointed his gun at the witness while standing over him. (Id. at 3474) From the video, Villagrana fired seven or eight shots (Id. at 3488), but was not shooting at the time Pettigrew was shot. (Id. at 3490)

John Siemer (aka "Cocky Rocky"), a "nomad" with the Vagos (i.e., not affiliated with any particular chapter) (AAv14: 3491-92) testified that after the Oyster Bar incident, he went to talk to Pettigrew, shook hands with him, told Rudnick to "rest your fucking neck" [sic], and thought that everyone had agreed to go their own way for the night. (<u>Id</u>. at 3492-93)

The HA's and the Vagos are not gangs; they are clubs. (AAv14: 3496) For a Vago, picking a fight with a HA's president would not give one any credibility; rather it would be seen as an "act of stupidity." (<u>Id</u>. at 3496-97)

In his opinion, there is simply was no way that any Vago would ever agree

to kill Pettigrew. (<u>Id</u>. at 3521) The idea simply makes no sense at all. (<u>Id</u>. at 3526-27) The Vagos simply would not do such a thing in a casino, with families present. (<u>Id</u>. at 3527)

**Leonard Ramirez**, the vice president of south coast Riviera chapter of the Vagos (AAv15: 3563), was shot in the stomach during the melee (<u>Id</u>. at 3567), and almost died in the hospital thereafter. (<u>Id</u>. at 3580-81)

When they arrived at the Nugget, the HA's, including Pettigrew, had been very respectful to the Vagos. One of the HA's mottos is, "show respect and get respect." There was never a plan that evening to attack Mr. Pettigrew. (Id. at 3578-80)

# C. <u>Testimony of "Hell's Angels witnesses"</u>

**Donald Sandy**, a member of the San Jose HA's, came up to Reno in September of 2011 with Pettigrew and Villagrana and Jimmy Arnett. (AAv15: 3617-18) About 12 to 14 HA's were at the Oyster Bar that evening. Everyone was in a good mood. (<u>Id</u>. at 3619-20)

Throughout the day, a number of Vagos came up to them, from just a few to 100. (Id. at 3620) Some of the Vagos talked to Pettigrew to ease the tension. (Id.) Pettigrew came to the witness and said there was a mutual agreement; nothing would happen that weekend. (Id. at 3622)

The witness walked away with Pettigrew, Villagrana, and several others. They walked by a group of Vagos. Someone asked Pettigrew if everything would be okay. Pettigrew said "yes," and touched the man on his shoulder. (Id. at 3624) The next he knew, punches were being thrown, bottles were crashed, and people were screaming. (Id. at 3625) He saw Pettigrew draw his gun. (Id. at 3625) He also saw Villagrana pull out his gun. (Id. at 3626)

While ducking down, the witness saw Pettigrew wave his gun and fire. (<u>Id</u>. at 3631-32) He heard two to three shots. (<u>Id</u>. at 3631) He then saw the Appellant come around the corner, raise his gun up, and shoot Pettigrew in the back four to five times. (<u>Id</u>. at 3631) Pettigrew literally died in the witness' arms. (<u>Id</u>. at 20)

At the time the Appellant came in with the gun, Pettigrew was in process of kicking someone. (Id. at 3677)

Henry Tyrell, a member of the San Jose Hell's Angels (AAv15: 3332) was not aware of any specific tension between the HA's and Vagos at the time of the Oyster Bar incident. (See: AAv15: 3333-3336)

#### D. Testimony of Gary Rudnick, aka "Jabbers"

On direct examination, Rudnick testified as follows:

He had been a member of the Vagos for about ten years. (AAv15: 3731) He understood that the Vagos have problems with the HA's and with the Mongols, although he personally did not have any problems with the HA's. (<u>Id</u>. at 3736) He personally did not know any member of the HA's. (<u>Id</u>. at 3737)

Mr. Rudnick was the vice president of the Los Angeles chapter. (<u>Id</u>. at 3738)

Rudnick drove his motorcycle to Reno in September of 2011. His wife flew in to meet him there. (<u>Id</u>. at 3748) The witness had heard about an incident on Highway 99 in California between some HA's and some Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 3750)

The Vagos had a national officer's meeting at 8 p.m. in the Nugget. (AAv16: 3752) The concern was that the HA's had disrespected the Vagos at Bakersfield, and the agreement was supposed to be that the HA's would stay at a different hotel. (Id. at 3753) "Ta Ta" then put the "green light" on Pettigrew, i.e., to kill him, and Appellant agreed to do so. (Id. at 3754)<sup>3</sup>

The witness had dinner at the Oyster Bar with his wife. When he came out, approximately 15 to 20 HA's were there. (AAv16: 3755) The witness got a telephone call from "someone" entitled the "911 call," indicating that there would be an incident. (<u>Id</u>. at 3757-58)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Mr. Rudnick never explained why the international president of the entire Vago organization would direct a San Jose Vago to murder a San Jose Hell's Angel, over an incident that did not occur in San Jose. The Court may take judicial notice that Highway 99 in central California runs through Bakersfield, but does not run through San Jose.

Rudnick then went into the Oyster Bar to have a beer. (<u>Id</u>. at 3758) Someone kept tapping him on the back of his cut (patch). That is a sign of disrespect. (<u>Id</u>. at 3760) Rudnick became angry and confronted the man, Pettigrew, suggesting that he buy a beer for everybody. (<u>Id</u>. at 3761)

Tensions arose. "Dragon" and "Cocky Rocky" came down and told Rudnick to leave. (<u>Id</u>. at 3761) Rudnick was aggravated because Pettigrew would not apologize to him. (<u>Id</u>. at 3762)<sup>4</sup> After Rudnick walked towards the disco, "Dragon Man" told him not to let any HA's get to the elevator. Rudnick was going to stop Pettigrew and talk to him. He believed that all of the others would surround the HA's. He believed that all of the San Jose Vagos were in on the plan, including Appellant. (<u>Id</u>. at 3764-65)

Rudnick then testified that he walked up to Pettigrew and asked, "are we cool?" Pettigrew responded, "I don't talk to bitches." Rudnick responded, "I'm not a bitch. I'm just asking if everything is cool." Pettigrew then took a swing at Rudnick. (Id. at 3766-67)<sup>5</sup> Pettigrew pulled out his gun (Id. at 3768) and pistol

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Missing in this story is how a personal affront by Pettigrew to Rudnick, a member of the Los Angeles Vagos, could rationally lead to a plot to murder Pettigrew involving Gonzalez, a member of the San Jose Vagos, when Gonzalez was not even there at time of the personal affront.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This supposed plan to murder Pettigrew was not explained as including a Los Angeles Vago genuinely seeking a truce from Pettigrew, who of course would

whipped a Vago, before shooting another Vago. (<u>Id</u>. at 3771) Then more gunfire went off. (<u>Id</u>.) Then Appellant shot Pettigrew in the back. (<u>Id</u>.)

After the incident, "Dragon Man" sent 10 Vagos to Rudnick's home to take his motorcycle. He was ejected from the Vagos, i.e., he was "out bad," for starting the whole incident. (Id. at 3778)<sup>6</sup>

Rudnick explained that when Cocky Rocky said to "let it go," he thought that meant Pettigrew was not going to get past the elevator. (<u>Id</u>. at 3795)

Rudnick plead guilty to the charge of conspiracy to commit murder, carrying a potential penalty of 4 to 10 years in prison. However, he never agreed to kill anybody, (<u>Id</u>. at 3807-08) He was hoping to get probation, but the prosecutor had not made him any promises. (Id. at 3809)

In addition to the points made in the above footnotes, on cross-examination facts were brought out that further shed light on Rudnick's incredibility:

1. While Rudnick was in jail before making bail, he told his wife that if he did everything "Karl" (Hall, the trial prosecutor) wanted to, he would get

react by throwing a punch at the Los Angeles Vago, and then for Pettigrew to pull his gun and begin shooting at people, so that the "planned murder" of Pettigrew by a San Jose Vago would appear to be defense of others.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Missing in Rudnick's description of "the plan" was a "plan" to appear to place the blame on Rudnick after the fact by a number of Vagos doing that to him.

probation. (<u>Id</u>. at 3813) Rudnick admitted that he said that, but "he was lying to his wife." (<u>Id</u>. at 3814)

2. Eric Bennett (see below) promised him a new identity and a new place to live, rent free for a year, in exchange for his cooperation. (Id. at 3819)

3. Before he bailed, Rudnick told his wife that he was going to withhold information from the State unless they did something for him. (<u>Id</u>. at 3833) He was "going crazy in jail." (<u>Id</u>. at 3825-26) Rudnick was upset with Bennett, but hoped that Mr. Hall would uphold "his end of the deal." (<u>Id</u>. at 3836)

4. When Rudnick joined the Vagos, it was a clean-and-sober charter, and there were a number of good people in the Vagos, including professionals.(AAv16: 3848)

5. In his assistance to the State, Rudnick told Bennett he (Rudnick) has smuggled kilos of cocaine and methamphetamine from Mexico to the United States. He admitted to being one of the criminals in the Vagos, but further admitted that not all members were. (<u>Id</u>, at 3862-63)

 Rudnick admitted that he had brought his wife to a number of Vagos' events. He would never purposely expose her to danger. (<u>Id</u>. at 3889-90).

7. With respect to the murder plan, Rudnick claimed that he chose to participate, knowing that the plan would be videotaped and carried out in front of

19

dozens of witnesses. (<u>Id</u>. at 3916) There was no back up plan, no escape plan, and no game plan as part of this plan to murder. (<u>Id</u>. at 3915)

8. Importantly, Rudnick told the police that the "green light" meant that if the murder did not happen <u>that night</u> it would happen <u>some other time</u>. (<u>Id</u>. at 3923)

9. Per Rudnick, Pettigrew actually caused the fight. (<u>Id</u>. at 3932) Per Rudnick, his only purpose in the events leading to Pettigrew's death was to get an apology from Pettigrew. (<u>Id</u>. at 3933) When Pettigrew attacked him and Appellant walked away, there was <u>no plan</u> to shoot Pettigrew <u>at that point</u>. (<u>Id</u>. at 3934) When Pettigrew pulled his gun, Rudnick went into hiding. (<u>Id</u>. at 3934-35)

10. The term "green light" simply means "green light"; it does not mean "kill him." (Id. at 3963)

11. He did not think any of this was his fault. The only reason he plead guilty was because his attorney advised him to do so. (<u>Id</u>. at 3979)

### E. <u>Testimony of "OMG Gang Experts"</u>

Les Skelton, a detective with the <u>Arizona</u> Department of Public Safety (AAv18: 4432-33), has been involved in the investigations of "outlaw motorcycle gangs" (OMG's), such as the HA's and the Vagos. (<u>Id</u>. at 4435) He investigated a shootout between the HA's and the Vagos in <u>Chino Valley, Arizona</u> in August of

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