IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ERNESTO GONZALEZ,

No. 64249

Electronically Filed Feb 12 2015 04:47 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

RICHARD F. CORNELL 150 Ridge Street, 2nd Floor Reno, Nevada 89501 CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS District Attorney

TERRENCE P. McCARTHY Chief Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Much of the testimony of witnesses was supported by video recordings from the many security cameras found in the Nugget. The surveillance

¹The appellant's Appendix is labeled with Roman Numerals, instead of Arabic numbers, but the version furnished to the State has some volumes with two parts, the second one unlabeled. In contrast, the Opening Brief cites to the appendix with the volumes identified by Arabic numbers. The State will follow suit, and use Arabic numbers, in the attempt (however misguided) to avoid confusion.

supervisor from the Nugget was able to put together a compilation of recordings that allowed the jury a visual record of the events. 11 AA 2657.

The first altercation was at the Nugget's Oyster Bar. Around 10:30 that night, Security Supervisor George Messina saw that a fight was nigh at the Oyster Bar and he put in a call for assistance to the Sparks Police Department. 12 AA 2782-83. It seems that Rudnick, aka Jabbers, was having antagonistic words with Jethro Pettigrew. Several witnesses to the altercation anticipated a violent outcome. 12 AA 2856-60. Jimmie Evanson tried to calm the situation and eventually Rudnick left the Oyster Bar. 12 AA 2859. Once that died down, perhaps 20 to 30 minutes later, several Hells Angels members gathered their belongings and started heading down the pathway known as the "yellow brick road" toward the area of the Nugget that included Trader Dick's Bar. The Vagos had arrived there first. 12 AA 2764, 12 AA 2790-92. The security supervisor saw around 30 of Vagos lingering in the area where the yellow brick road passed in front of Trader Dick's, along the way to the bank of elevators. 12 AA 2788, 2790-92. Those Vagos had been waiting for some time. They appeared to have formed a sort of gauntlet when the contingent of Hells Angels arrived. 12 AA 2810. The new arrivals stopped and engaged in what appeared to be a heated argument with some of the Vagos. One witness heard Pettigrew say "you want shot, motherfucker?" 13 AA 3140. That initial contact was with Rudnick again. Pettigrew threw the first punch. Rudnick

claimed he ran away. 16 AA 3767. Then, some Vagos responded by hitting some Hells Angels over the head with bottles and seconds later Pettigrew and another Hells Angels member, Villagrana, pulled pistols and started shooting. 12 AA 2791, 13 AA 3206.

Robert Wiggins, a Vago from Orange County, testified that he fell when he was pushed by a crowd coming out of a restaurant door in response to the sound of gunfire. 14 AA 3415. That changed a bit and he claimed that he fell some time after leaving the restaurant when his friend knocked him down. 14 AA 3435. He claimed that someone was kicking him, and that the gunfire came after he was on the ground and being kicked. 14 AA 3438-39. Appellant Gonzalez was later to use that alleged kicking as the cornerstone of his defense. Wiggins claimed that he remained on the ground until handcuffed. 14 AA 3444. He apparently forgot that little part as he also claimed that an officer threatened to use a taser if he didn't get down on the ground. 14 AA 3445. That seems an odd thing to say to someone who was laying on the ground.

According to Wiggins, the person kicking him at the time of the gunshots was not Pettigrew, but was the "big guy" with a semi-automatic pistol. 14 AA 3474. That was Villagrana, not Pettigrew. Pettigrew was the smaller fellow with the revolver and the prosthetic leg. According to Wiggins, he did not see Pettigrew with a pistol and he saw no reason why anyone would use deadly

4

force against Pettigrew. 14 AA 3479. Once cops arrived, Robert Wiggins was detained. He refused to comply with orders, responding to orders to get on the floor with the somewhat impolite phrase, "Fuck you, bitch." Therefore he was physically tackled and handcuffed. He did not appear to be injured or hurt in any way, and denied that he was hurt. 13 AA 3050-52, 3088.

Donald Sandy was a witness. He testified that he saw Pettigrew kicking someone but then Pettigrew stopped and walked away before Gonzalez shot him in the back from the darkness of the nearby dance floor. 15 AA 3631-32, 3675. According to Sandy, the kick was really more of a "nudge." 15 AA 3648. After the nudge, and after Pettigrew had stepped away, Gonzalez shot Pettigrew. 15 AA 3631. Pettigrew was no longer displaying a gun when Gonzalez shot him. 15 AA 3632.

Witness Rudnick was initially charged as a co-conspirator but he pleaded guilty to reduced charges and ultimately testified against Gonzalez. He described the day in question. There were several meetings of Vagos during the day. One included officers of the several chapters, including both Rudnick and Gonzalez and many others. Following that general meeting, he described a "little powwow" between the international officers and some of the folks from San Jose. 16 AA 3753. In that meeting, the International President, known as "Ta Ta," authorized those present to kill Pettigrew. Gonzalez said he would do it. 16 AA 3754. When the Vagos set up the gauntlet near Trader Dick's bar in the Nugget, and awaited the Hells Angels, one of the international officers, known as "Dragon Man," instructed those present not to let the Hells Angels pass by that area and get to the elevators. 16 AA 3764. As the Hells Angels arrived, Rudnick accosted Pettigrew. He planned for a fight to ensue and he was right. 16 AA 3767. Pettigrew threw the first punch. *Id*.

Having started the deadly encounter, Rudnick ran and hid behind some slot machines. 16 AA 3768. From his vantage point, he saw Gonzalez (aka Romey), shoot Pettigrew in the back. 16 AA 3771. According to Rudnick, he saw Gonzalez the next day and Gonzalez said "I did it." 16 AA 3776.

Pettigrew died from four shots in the back and one in the armpit, all from the same gun – the gun that Gonzalez fired. 14 AA 3386, 3394.

Gonzalez testified that there was no meeting and no "green light" and that he did not volunteer to kill Pettigrew. He testified that he was just innocently milling about near Trader Dick's and there was no effort to stop the Hells Angels from passing. Instead, Pettigrew started the fight. Gonzalez testified that he was just going to walk away, like the peaceful fellow that he is, and then decided to get a bottle to use as a weapon. When he got to the bar, he found a gun just sitting on a counter. Lucky him. The origin of that gun has not been explained. He got back into the dispute and claimed he saw Pettigrew kicking someone and so he shot Pettigrew. 19 AA 4642-45. He also

6

claimed that he could not tell which of the potential targets was doing the kicking, so he fired at both of them. 19 AA 4645. The jury apparently did not believe at least some portions of that story.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. <u>The District Court Did Not Err in Its Response to Questions</u> <u>from the Jury</u>.

Responses to questions from a jury are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

The court received a few questions during jury deliberations. Appellant Gonzalez first contends that there is no discretion involved and that the district court was absolutely required to respond differently to questions from the jury because, he contends, the questions themselves clearly reveal that the panel collectively was confused and that the response could not possibly have cured the confusion.

The first question asked where the jury could find certain evidence that had been admitted. The court and the parties eventually figured it out and informed the jury that the computer the court had provided had no data on it but that the evidence was found on a thumb drive that had been admitted. The thumb drive could then be used with the computer to display the evidence. 20 AA 4923-4927. The suggestion that the court was simply unwilling to answer questions, then, is incorrect.

There were two other questions. The court described the questions

thusly:

THE COURT: The jury has sent out the following question: Juror number 6: Legal question. Looking at instruction number 17, colon, if a person has no, underlined, knowledge of a conspiracy, but their actions contribute to someone else's plan, comma, are they guilty of conspiracy, question mark.

20 AA 4927-4928.

Following that was a fairly extensive discussion, not just the rather curt response suggested in the opening brief. *See* 20 AA 4928 to 4939. In short, the court referred the jury to several instructions.

Interestingly, while the questions are described as coming from "the jury," it appears that they came from one juror in particular. The district court noted that the question was not nearly as clear cut as it seemed and referred the jury to specific instructions and told them to read each instruction in light of each other instruction. 20 AA 4936.

The second question appeared on the same sheet of paper, from juror number 6. It read "<u>And another question:</u> People in here are wondering if a person can only be guilty of 2nd degree murder or 1st. Can it be both." 21 AA at 5019.

The district court mentioned to the parties that the second degree murder was charged as a distinct count, and not just as a lesser-included offense. 20 AA 4938. Accordingly, the court answered the jury that it must return a separate verdict for each count. 20 AA 4936-37. That was correct, although the court also correctly ruled, later, that only one sentence would be imposed.

On appeal, the issues seem to be limited to the second question, concerning the elements of a conspiracy. Gonzalez contends that the only possible inference is that there was some great confusion among the various member of the jury that could only be answered in one way. That is questionable at best. It seems more likely that the note was exactly what it said it was: a note from a single juror asking about a single instruction. The district court correctly responded that the particular instruction should not be read in a vacuum but together with all the other instructions. Those other instructions collectively and unambiguously revealed that knowledge of the conspiracy was indeed an element of the crime of conspiracy.

This Court has long since ruled that where the instructions given are correct, the court need not supplement them. "The trial judge has wide discretion in the manner and extent he answers a jury's questions during deliberation. If he is of the opinion the instructions already given are adequate, correctly state the law and fully advise the jury on the procedures they are to follow in their deliberation, his refusal to answer a question already answered in the instructions is not error." *Tellis v. State*, 84 Nev. 587, 591, 445 P.2d 938, 941 (1968). Gonzalez now contends that *Tellis* was wrongly decided and that as a matter of law the district court is required to rephrase the instructions whenever any member of the jury might be unclear. He is

incorrect. He relies on *State v. Juan*, 242 P.3d 314 (N.M. 2010). In that case, the question from the jury asked whether it was possible to return no verdict or if they had to continue deliberating indefinitely. The trial court refused to respond in any way. The jury returned a verdict of "guilty" a couple hours later. The reviewing court found the silence of the trial court to be similar to a "shotgun" instruction that coerced the jury into unanimity. There is no such fear in this case as the district court did indeed respond and informed the jury that the answer was in the instructions as a whole. The juror with the question was apparently satisfied as there was no further question from the juror.

In *Bollenbach v. U.S.*, 326 U.S. 607, 66 S.Ct. 402 (1946), the trial court responded to the inquiries of the jury but was wrong. The trial court wrongly informed the jury that possession of bonds shortly after they were stolen gave rise to a presumption that he was guilty of conspiring to transport the bonds in interstate commerce. The conclusion that the response was incorrect need not concern this Court because the response of the trial court in the instant case was indeed correct. Nothing in *Bollenbach* undercuts the decision of this Court in *Tellis*.

Gonzalez also relies on *State v. Campbell*, 260 P.3d 235 (Wash.App. 2011)². In that case, the original instructions were incorrect and the supplemental instructions just referred to the first. It is not surprising that the

²The Opening Brief refers to volume 250 of Pacific third. The State suspects that the proper citation is volume 260.

reviewing court found error. The State might note, however, that the decision agrees with this Court in *Tellis,* holding that "Where the instructions given accurately state the law, the trial court need not further instruct the jury." 260 P.3d at 239. Thus, that decision adds nothing to this case.

People v. Hoover, 165 P.3d 784 (Colo.App. 2006), cited by Gonzalez, merely holds that where the defendant participates in drafting the response to the jury, the defendant cannot be heard to complain about it. That does not seem to add anything to this case.

State v. Steiben, 256 P.2d 796 (Kan. 2011) involved a supplemental instruction that intruded on the province of the jury. Again, that does not seem relevant to the instant case.

As this Court held in *Tellis*, where the original instructions are correct, as they were in the instant case, the Court does not err in failing to engage in further discussions with the jury as a whole or with individual jurors. Here, the court responded by reminding the jury that it must read instruction 17 in conjunction with each other instruction. If the jury did that, the answer would be clear. Thus, there was no error.

As a general rule, the instructions should be given once, in writing, and not result in some greater and wide-ranging discussion between the court and the jurors. Furthermore, the court must be careful to avoid the appearance of endorsing some factual proposition. For those reasons, and because the original instructions were correct, this Court should find no error.

2. <u>The Failure to Give a Theory of Defense Instruction Benefitted</u> <u>and Did Not Prejudice the Defense</u>.

Questions of omitted instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Davis v. State*, _____Nev. ____, 321 P.3d 867 (2014). The omission of a theory of defense instruction is also subject to a harmless-error analysis. Whether a proposed instruction correctly states the law is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

The court gave a detailed instruction on self-defense and defense of others. 20 AA 4998-99. The defense proposed an additional instruction, a theory of defense instruction, that informed the jury that the defendant's theory of defense was defense of others and that if the jury concluded that he acted in lawful defense of some other unidentified person, then they could not convict him. The trial court declined to give the instruction, holding that the content was adequately covered by instruction 34.

Gonzalez now argues that instruction 34 was deficient in that it failed to adequately distinguish between self-defense and defense of others. However, the real deficiency in instruction 34 is that, when on the topic of defense of others, it is overly generous to the defense. In *Batson v. State*, 113 Nev. 669, 941 P.2d 478 (1997), the Court ruled that there are limitations on the defense of others. That is, that the accused must stand in the shoes of the person being rescued and may only use force, and only the degree of force, that the person being rescued could lawfully use.³ Instruction 34 admittedly had no such limitation but that could hardly prejudice the defense. That is, the instruction as given allowed the defense under some circumstances where the correct instruction would not allow the defense. If the jury were to conclude that the person being rescued was not at that moment being kicked by Pettigrew, and that person being rescued had non-lethal options available, the instruction as given would still require that the jury acquit because it did not require Gonzalez to stand in the shoes of the person being rescued.

A "theory of defense" instruction draws attention to an element of the crime and instructs the jury to acquit if that element is rebutted in some specific way. The instruction proposed in the instant case went a bit beyond that by instructing the jury that the theory was the only theory being proposed. This Court has found that the lack of a theory-of-defense-instruction can be harmless when the other instructions serve the same purpose. *Davis v. State, supra*. That is what happened in this case. The comprehensive instruction on self-defense and defense of others surely put the defense squarely in the forefront. More importantly, the record reveals that the issue was thoroughly argued by counsel for the defense. Even the prosecutor asked Gonzalez if his defense was "defense of others" and the defendant agreed that it was. 19 AA 4653-55. There is no way that this jury could have concluded anything but

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